
Ul\ ITED STATES E;'oi VIHOl'ii\'IENT AL PROTECTION AGENCY 

llEFORE TH E AD!\1l ;'oi i STRATOR 

In the Matter of: 

M UNICIPALITY OFRJO GRA NDE, 

Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Docket No. CWA-02-2009-3458 

ORDER ON COMPLAINAJ\T'S RENEWED MOTION FOR R E. 1EDIES 
AND MOTION FOH ACCELERATED DECI SLON 

I. Background 

This proceeding vvas in itiated on April I, 2009 by the United States En vi ronmental 
Protection Agency, Region 2, Caribbean Environmental Protection Division, filing a Complaint 
aga inst the Respondent pursuant to Section 309(g)(2) of the Clean Water Act (CW A), 33 lJ .S.C. 
§ 1 3 19(g)(2). The Complaint alleges that Respondent violated Scct·ions ,402 and 308 of the 
CWA ror fail ure to apply for a National Pollu tant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 
permit 1()1" discharges of pollutants from the Rio Cl ranclc municipal separate storm sewer sys tem 
(MS4) into waters or the Uni ted Sta tes. Respondent fi led an Answer to the Complaint on June 
J 6, 2009, denying the allegations or violation and requesting a hearing or di smissa l of the 
Compla int. Thereafter, a Preheari ng Order was issued, directing· the panics to submit prchearing 
exchanges. Afte r Complainant submitted its Prchca ri ng Exchange and past the due da te of 
September 25'11 for the submis$ion of R.cspondent 's prehearing exchange, on October 6, 2009 the 
unders igned received fro m Respondent a document erroneously ti tled '·Complainant' s Initial 
Prchearing Exchange .. " The document was not in compliance with the Prchearing Order in that it 
fai led to include a curri culum vi ta or resume for the idcnti(ied expert witnesses, fa il ed to respond 
to the rcqu.ests in Section 3 of the Prchearing Order, and was not timely tiled. The document 
also violated Rule 22.5(a)(3) of the applicable Ru les of Practi ce, 40 c.r.R. Part 22 (Rules), in 
that no ccrti fi cate of service was attached. 

On October 9, 2009, Compl <;~ inant submitted a Motion for Remedi es requesting entry of e1 
de f~lll lt order or an order striking Respondent 's cvide.ncc on the bas is that the its Prchearing 
Exchange failed to meet the requ irements of the .Prehearing Order and the Rules. An Order 
dated October 19, 2009 den ied the request e1nd d irected that, on or be fore November 5, 2009, 
Respondent to submi t a supplementa l prchearing exchange providing the requisite info rmation 
omit!cd from its previous fi ling. The Order provided that ir Respondent failed. to ful ly and 
,timely fil e its supplemental prehearing exchange, then Complainant was permi tted to renew its 
request for default and that "such dcf~llllt may be granted wi thout further notice to Respondent" 
(emphasis in or iginal). 



Respondent submitted a Supplemental Initial Prehcaring Exchange on November J 2, 
2009. On ovember 20, 2009, Complainant submitted a Renc,.ved Motion for Remedies and 
Motion for Accelerated Decision (Motion), requesting that Respondent be held in default at least 
on the issue of liability forth~ violation alleged in the Complaint, and that all of' Respondent 's 
evicknce be st ricken· <md none of its witnesses be permitted to testify, or in the alternative, that 
accekra tecl decision as to Respondent's liability be granted in favor of Complainant. 
Complainant also requests an ex tension of time to fik a rebuttal prehea ri ng exchange, if the 
request for decision by clcf'au lt and acce lerated decision arc denied. To date, no response to the 
Motion has been filed by Respondent. 

11. Renewed Motion for Reml'd ies 

Complainan t requests entry or default finding Respondent liable for the :violation alleged 
in the Complaint, on the basis that Respondent failed to timely comply with the October 19'h 
Order by filing its Supplemental lnitial Prchcaring Exchange on November 12, 2009, past the 
November 5'h filing deadline set in the Order. 

' 
Rul e 22.17(a) provides that "[a] party may be round to be in default ... upon fai lure to 

comply with the information exchange requirements if § 22.1 9(a) or an order of the Presiding 
Officer .... " 40 C.F.R. § 22. 17(a). Respondent 's Supplemental Ini tial Prchearing Exchange 
was clea rly filed a vleck late, vvithout providing excuse therefor, but did provide the curriculum 
vitae and responses to inquiries that were required by the Prehearing Order and October 19'h 
Order of this Tribunal. 

As stated in the October 19'" Order, del'ault judgment and exclusion of' evidence are harsh 
and disfavored . anctions, reserved for only the most egregious behavior, such as \·villful 
\'iolations of court rules. contumacious conduct or intentional delays, and default judgment "is 
not an appropria te sanction for a marginal h1 ilure to comply with the time requirements .... " 
Time Equipment Rental & Sales. Inc. 1'. Hone, 983 F.2d I 28, I 30 (8'" Cir. 1993). Respondent's 
untimely !iling docs not rise to thi s level. Therefore, a ckfaultjudgment against Respondent is 
not warranted , and the Motion is den ied with respect to the requests fo r judgment of default and 
for exc lusion of' e-vidence and testimony. 

JTL )VIotion for Accelerated Decision 

' 
Complainant requests, in the alternative, entry of accclei'ated decision in its ravor, finding 

Resrondcnt li able lor the violation alleged in the Complaint·, on the basis that no genuine issue 
of' material fact ex ists with respect to Respondent's liabili ty therefor. Complainant "submits that 
Respondent's admissions, made in its Answer, in pre-l itigation documentary submissions to the 
Agency [EPJ\.), through admissions made in its correspondence and communications with the 
EPA, combine to demonstrate irrel'utably that no genuine issue of material fact exists in thi s 
litigation with regard to Responclcnl·s liability to the EPA." Motion,! 23. 
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!\.. Statutory and Regulatory Background 

. The statutory authority to issue the Complaint, seeking assessment of penalties, is Section 
J09(g) of the CWA , v:hich provides in pertinent part: 

Whenever on the basis of any in formation ava ilable -
(/\)the Administ rator finds thm any person has vio lated section ... 13 18 .. . of 
thi s title [Section 308 of the CWA], or has viola ted any perm it condi ti on or 
limitation implen1enting any of such sections in a permit issued under section 
1342 of this ti tle by the Administrator or by a State .... 

* * * 
the Administrator ... may . . . assess a ... class [J civil penal ty under thi s 
subsection. 

33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)( I). 

Respondent is charged in the Complaint with violating Sections 308 and 402 o f the 
CWA. Sect ion 308(a) provides as follows, in pertinent part: 

Whenever requ ired to carry out the object ive of this chapter, including but not 
limited to . .. (4) carry ing out sections ... [33 U.S.C. §] 1342 ofthis title 
[Section 402 orthe CWAJ-

(!\)The Administrator shall require the owner or operator ot'<my point source t.o 
(i) es tabli sh and maintain such records, (ii) make such report s, (iii) instalL u·sc nnd 
maintain such monitoring equipment or methods ... , (iv) sample such d tl uems . . 
. , nnd (\') provide such other info1:mation as he may reasonably require . ... 

33 U .S.C. § 13 18. Section 402(a) of the CWA prov ides a~ follows, in pertinent part: 

(I) ... the Administrator may, after opportunity for public hear ing, issue a permi t fo r the 
discharge of any r oilutant, or combi nat ion of pollutants ... upon condition rhat such 
discharge will meet either (A) all applicable requirements under sections 13 1 I, J 312, 
1316, 131 7, 1318, and 1343 of thi s titl e, or (13) ... such conditions as the Administrator 
determ ines are necessary to carry out the provisions of thi s chapter. 

(2) The Aclmin.istrator sh:-tll prescribe such conditions for such permits .... 

Section 402(p) of the CWA governs municipal storm wa ter discharges, and Paragraph 402(p)(6) 
authorizes EPA to issue regulations and a regulatory program l'or stormwater discharges that are 
not listed under Section 402(p)(2). 

EPA promulgated regulations at40 C.F.R. § 122 .26 g~verning storm water discharges. 
Section 122.26(a)(9)(i) rGquir~.·.s opera tors to obtain an NPDES permit for certain types o f' storm 



water discharges, incl uding "from a small MS4 that is required to be regulaLed pur~uant to 
§ 122.32." 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(a)(9)(i)(A). 1\. ·'MS4" or "municipal separate storm sewer" is 
defined as "a conveyance or system of conveyances ... [ o lwncd and operated by a State, ci ty, 
town, pa rish, district, association, or other public body ...... [dJcsigncd or used for col lecting 
or conveying storm vvater .. . [ v .. ·lhi ch .is not a combined sewer; and ... !'w]hich is not part of a 
Publicly Owned Treatment Works ... " 40 C.F. R. § 122.26(b)(8). Small MS4s me defined as 
those \\'hich arc ' ' [njot defined as ' large' or ' medium ' municipal separate storm sewer system ... 
or designated under paragraph (a)( I )(v) of this section. " 40 C.F. R. § 122 .26(b)( 16). Section 
1.22.32(a)( l ) provides that an operator of a small MS4 is regulated under the NPDES stormwater 
prognnn if the ·'small MS4 is located in an mbani zcd area as determined by the latest Decennial 
Ce-nsus ... " Sec.tion 122.26(a)(9)(ii) prov ides that "l'o)perators of small MS4s designated 
pursuant to paragraphs 122.26(a)(9)(i)(A) ... or this section shall seck coverage under an 
N PDES permi t in accordance with §§ 122.33 through 122.35." Section 122.33 provides that an 
operator or a regulated MS4 must seek coverage under an TPDES permit issued by the 
permitting authorit y, by submit! ing a Noti ce or Intent (NO I), if the permitling authority has 
issued a general permit app licable to the discharge. Section 122.26(c)(9) provides !hat-

For any di scharge from a regulated small MS4, !he permit application made under 
§ 122.33 must be submitted to the Director by: (i) March 10, 2003 if designated 
under§ 122.32(a) unless your MS4 serves a jurisdiction with a population under 
I 0,000 and the NPDES permitting authori ty has established a phasing sched ule 
.... ; or (ii) Within 180 da ys of noti cc . . .. 

13. Standards for Acceleratccl Decision 

As to accelerated decision, the appl icable regulations provide that: 

The Presiding Officer may at any time render an accelerated decision in favor of a 
pa rty as to any or all parts of a proceeding, wi lh oi.1t further hearing or upon such 
limited add itional evidence, such as affidavits, as he may require, if no genuine 
issue ol·matcria l fact exists and a party is enti tl ed to judgment as a matter of law. 

40 C.F.R. § 22.20(a). 

A motion for accelerated decis ion is analogous to a motion for summary judgment under 
Rule 56 ofthe Federal Rules of Civil Procedure ("FRCP") and thus federal court rulings on 
1110tions under FrZCP 56 provide guidance in ruling on a motion for accelerated decision. See 
Mayaguez Reg 'I Sewage Treatment Plant, 4 F:.A.D. 772, 780-82, 1993 EPA App. LEX IS 32, 
*24-26 (EAB 1993), aff'd sub nom., Puato Rico Aqueduct and Sewer Authority v. F:P!l, 35 .F.3d 
600, 606 (I st Cir. 1994), cert. dc11ied, 5 13 U.S. 11 48 . 

. ....... 

The initial determination is wheth~r, under FRCP 56(c), the movant has met its initial 
burden of showing that there exists no genuine issue of materia l fact. by identifying those 
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portions of "the pkadings, depos itions, ::~ns\\ ·er"s to interrogatories, and admission On file, 
together with the affidavits, if ::~ny, showring] that there is no genu in~ issue as to any material 
f8ct and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of' law." Celotex Corp. v. 
Cotrett, 477 U.S. 3 17, 323 ( 1986)(quoting FRCP 56( c). In reviewing the record, the fac ts must 
be const rued in the light most favorable to the non-moving party . Sr:e, Cone V. Longmont United 
!Jospilol Ass'n, 14 f.3cl526, 528 (lOth Cir. 1994) (citing Boren v. SoulhiVest Bell Tel. Co., 933 
F.2d 89 1, 892 (I 0:11 Cir. 1991 )). For the EPA to prevail on a motion lor accelerated decision on 
liability, it must present '"evidence that is so st rong and pcrsua·sive t h::~t no reasonable 
lfactfinder] is f'rce to disregard it"' [and) "'must shove that it has eswbl ished the cri tical elements 
of[statutory] liability and that [the respondent] has failed to raise a genuine issue ofmatcriallact 
on its affi rmat ive defense .... '" Rogers Corpomtion v. RPA, 275 F.3d 1096, 1103 (D.C. Cir. 
2002)(quoting BWX Technologies, Inc., RCRA (3008) Appeal No. 97-5, 2000 EPJ\ App. lEX IS 
13 at *38-39, 43 (EAB, Apri l 5, 2000)). ''Evidence not too lacking in probative value must be 
vjewcd in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion." Rogers, 275 F.3d at 1103. 
In ferences may be d raw~ from the ev idence if they arc "reasonably probable." ld Summary 
judgment is inappropriate where contradictory inferences m::~y be drawn from the evidence or 
vvhcre there are unexpla ined gaps in materials submilled by the moving party, i C pertinent to 
materia I issues of fact. JJ.; 0 Donnell v. United Stares, 89 1 F. 2d I 079, 1 082 (3 rd Ci r. 1989). 
When ruli ng on a motion for summary judgment it is the court's function to ascertain whether 
there is a genuine issue for an evidentiary hearing. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, 477 U.S. 242, 
249 ( 1985). 

Unsupported allegotions or affidavits with ultimate or conclusory facts and conclus ions 
of Ia\\' arc insuf'ficient to defeat a properly supported motion for summary judgment. Galindo v. 

J>n?cision American Corp. , 754 F.2d 12 12, 12 16, rehearing rle!nied, 762 F.2d I 004 (5th Cir. 
1 985); Lujan v. Na1 '/ Wildl((e Fed'n, 497 U.S. 871, 888 ( 1990); Griggs- Ryan v . .S'mith, 904 f..2d 
I 12,115 (1st Cir. 1990). 

C. Discuss ion 

The Complaint alleges that Respondent vio lated Sections 308 and 402 of the CWA by 
failing to.apply for ::1 NPDES permi t. In order to find Respondent in violation of Section 308 of 
the CWA on a motion for accelerated decision on liability, Complainant must establish that 
Respondent: (a) is an "ovmer of operator," (b) orany "point source," and (c) that Resp()Jldent 
fa il ed to make a report or provide "other information" required by EPA under Section 308, and 
that no genuine issue of materi al f~1ct exists with respect to these elements or liability. J\n 
"owner or operator" is defined in the implementi ng regul::lt ions as the "owner ()r operator or any 
'facil ity or activity' subjec t to regulation under the NPDES program." 40 C.F.R. § 122 .2. "Point 
source" is dd inecl in Sec tion 502( 14) of !he CWA as "any discernable, confined and discrete 
conveyance ... from which pollutants arc or may be discharged .... " 33 U.S. C.§ 1362( 14). 
As noted above, a "municipal scrarate storm sewer" or MS4 is defined as "a convcyanc~ or 
systc111 of conveyances ... [o)wncd and operated by a SLate, ci ty, [or] town . .. ldlesigncd or 
used for collecting or conveying storm water ... . " 40 C.F.R. § I 22 .2G(b)(8). The regulations 
do not specifica ll y cldine MS4s as "point sources," but do define an ''outfall" as "a poin! source. 
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. . at the poi nt where a municipal separate . torm sewer system discharges to wa ters of the United 
States and docs not include open conveyances connecting two [MS4s], or pipes, tunnels or other 
conveyances which connect segments of the same stream or other waters of the Uni ted States 
and arc used to convey waters of the United States." 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(9). 

Respondent does not concede the clements of liability for a violat ion of Secti on 308. In 
its An wer Respondent denies that it "owns and operates a Small Municipal Separate Storm 
Sewer Systcrn ('Small MS4') ," does not admit that "[t]he MS4 is a point source pursuant to 
502(14) of' the Act .. . . ," and denies i'or lack ofknowledge or sufficient informa tion to fo rm a 
bel ief, the allegation that "[t]he MS4 di scharges into Rio Espcratu Santo and the /\tfantic 
Ocean.'' Complaint and Ans,-ver ~l~i 8, 9, II . The pleadings do not estab li sh that an outfall from 
the MS4 di scharges into waters or the United States. The pleadings also do not establ ish that 
Respondent is subject to the requirement to obt<1in an NPDES permit , as Respondent in its 
Answer denies that "T~espondent 's MS4 is located in an urban ized area of Rio Cirande, Puerto 
Rico." Complain t and Answer ,i JO; see, 40 C. F.R. § 122.32(a)(l). 

Complainant presents in its Prehearing Exchange several exhibits in support of the 
allegations of Respondent 's liability, including an Administrative Compliance Order, dated 
February 5, 2008, and cover letter thereo f, orderi ng Respondent to subm it, inter alia, a Notice of 
ln te nt ("NOI") to seek co,·erage under the Small MS4 NPDES general permit, and including 
allegations sirnilar to those in the Complaint. Complai nant's Prehcaring Exchange ("C's PilE") 
Exhs. 5, Sa. Compl ainant also presents a Request for In fo rmation letter it sent to Respondent on 
July 6, 2007, according to the Cornp k1i nt. C's Pl-IE Exhs. 6, 6a. This letter summari zes 
regulatory requ irements, cites to the NPDES general permit, and states that the NPDES Storm 
Water Phase II final Rule, published in the Federal Register, lists all regulated MS4s, including 
Responde nt, based upon 1990 Census in formation. Complai nant' s Exhibit 7 is a letter from EPA 
to Respondent, dated February 12, 2003, which states that Respondent must submit a permit 
appl ication fo r storm water disch;1rges from the MS4 no later than March I 0, 2003,, and that --

EPA has determined tl1at the Municipality of Rio Crande owns and operates a 
storm sewer system, and therefore is requi red to obt<1 in a permit as descri bed in 
the ... (NPDES) regulations for storm wa ter discharges fro111 mun icipa lly-owned 

. separate storm sewer systems. 

EPA published the "Phase II" sto rm water regulations on December 9, 1999 (64 
FT~ 6R72 1). As outlined in these regulat ions, our determination is based on a 
review of the U.S. Census Bureau maps ofthc urbanized areas in the · 
Commonweal th or Puerto Rico, and the assumption that the Mun icipality of' Rio 
Grande storm scvver system discharges to waters of the Un ited States. 

C's Pil E Exh. 7. Compla inant presents as its Prehearing Exchange Exhibits 8, 8a and 8b a copy 
of the NPDES General Permit for Discharges from Small Municipal Separate Storm Sewer 
Systems, issued September 2 1, 2006 ("General Permit"), the Federal Register oticc, dated 
November 6, 2006, announcing the ava ilability of the General Permit, and an excerpt fi·om the 
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Genera l Permit , respectively. Exhibit 9 is a copy of the ru les at 40 C. F. R. ~ 122.26. 
Complainant 's Prchearing Exchange Exhibit 10 is a map entitled "Puerto Rico's northeast 
urbanized area, Source: US Census Bureau, 2000 Census," and subti tlcu "San Juan, PR 
Urban ized /\rea- Northeast Portion, Storm Water Entities as Defin ed by the 2000 Census.'· 
Exhib it lOa appears to be an zoomed-in and zoomed-out portion ofth c map in ExhibitiO, and 
Exhibit 1 Ob appears to be a zoomed-in port ion of the map entitled "The Bspiritu Santo E iver 
MS4 with in Rio Gnlllde's urbanized area. Exhibit lOc is en titled "/\erial PhoLOgntph of the 
Espiri tu Santo Ri ver and the Atlantic Ocean." 

Absent from the Prehcaring Exchange are any "pre- litigation documentary submiss ions 
to the Agency [EPA]" and "admiss ions made in its correspondence and communica tions with the 
EPA'' which "demonstn1te that no genuine issue of material fac t exists in thi s liti gat ion with 
regard to Respondent' s li ab il ity to the EPA." 1 Motion ,[ 23 . 

Complai11ant asserts as an undisputable fact that Respondent owns and operates a Small 
MS4, citing to allegations in the Complaint, and its Prehcarir1g Exchange Exhibits 9, I 0, I Oa-c. 
Moti on ~~ 13. Allegations in the Complaint, \·Vh ich Respondent denied, and Exh ibit 9, the 
reguliHions, do not support th is asserted fact. Exhi bits I 0 and l Oa-c show an area labeled as 
''Rio CJranclc," and a title to a map merely refers to an MS4 within Rio Grande. Other documents 
in the Prehearing Exchange include only conclusory allegations that Respondent owns and 
opera tes the MS4. 

Complainan t also asserts as an undisputable ract that Respondent 's Small MS4 is a "point 
source pursuant to Section 502( 14) of the Act," merely ci ting to th~ Complaint, ,, 19. Motion at 
, j 14. H ovvcv~r , Respondent denied thi s a ll ega tion in the A nsw~r. Complainant further asserts 
that it is undisputed that the MS4 di scharges into the Rio Espiritu Santo and the At lanti"c Ocean, 
cit ing to the Complaint, ~~ II and 12, and its Prchcarin g Exchange Exhibits 10, .lOa, lOb and 
l Oc. Motion ,116. Respondent ad rnittecl Paragraph 12 of' the Complaint, tha t the Espiritu Santo 
River and Atlantic Ocean arc "waters of the United States," but denied the allegation in 
Paragraph II of the Complaint, that the MS4 discharges into these water bodies. The maps and 
aerial photograph do not refer to or iden tify any ou tfa ll from the MS4 referenced in the 
Complai nt, anti thus do not establish that the MS4 includes an "outfall" within the meaning of 40 
C.F.R. § 122 .26(b)(9) , that is, "a point source .. . at the point \·vhere a muni c ip::~l separate storm 
se\ver system discharges to \Vaters of the United States and [vvhich) does not include open 
conveyances connecting two [MS4sj, or pipes, tunnels or other conveyances which connec t 

1 Other items in Complainant's Prehcaring Exchange are copies of the Complaint and 
attachments th.ereto (C's PH E Exhs. I, I a-c), Respondent 's request for extension of ti me to fil e 
an Ans\ver, Order gran ting the extension.; and 1\ns\ve r (C's PH E Exhs . 2, 2a-c), noti ficati on from 
EPA lo the Puerto Rico Environmental Quality Board of issuance of the Complaint (C's PH E 
Exh. 3), EPA 's penally c~!lculalion documents and penalty policies (C's Exhs. 4, 4a-u), and 
witness' curri culum vi tae (C:'s Pill ·: 1-:xlls. i i - 1 :1) . 
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segments of the S<lmc stream or other \\'atcrs of the United States and arc used to convey waters 
of the United States." Complainnnt has not esw blished that the MS4 referenced in the Complaint 
is a "point sourc~" on the basis of hav ing an outfit! I which discharges into the Espiritu Santo 
Ri ver and/or the Atlantic Ocean. 

Complainant al so has not established tha t the MS4 referenced in the Complaint is a 
"point source" under the genera l defin ition in Section 502( 14) of the C'vVA: "any cl iscernablc, 
conf·ined and discrete conveyance ... fi·om which pollutants arc or may be di scharged .... " 
/\! though it has been observed that" ls)tormwatcr runoili s one of the mot significant sources of 
water pollution in the nation ... . ,"Environmental Defense Center v. l:.PA, 344 F.3d 832, 840 
(l 01

" Cir. 2003), the Complqin t does not allege that "pollutants arc or may be d i scharg~d" fi·om 
the fv1S4, and the Prehearing Exchange does not include ev idence in supp1)rl of any such 
al legation. The correspondence from EPA presented in Complainant' s Prehcaring Exchange 
includes merely conclusory allegations, and the determination that Hcspondent is required to 
obtain an NPDES permit vvas based on merely an "assumption that the Municipality of Rio 
Grande storm sewer system discharges to wn ters o f the Uni ted States." C's PHE Exh. 7 
(emphasis added). Complainant has not provided ·'evidence that is so strong and persuasiYe that 
no reasonable I fnc tfinder] is free to disregard it" on the '"critical clements of [statutory] li ability 
.. . . "in Section 308 of the CWA. Rogers Corporation v. EPA, 275 F .3 d at 1103 (quoting BWX 
Technologies, inc., supra). 

In a very recent decision, Service Oil, Inc. v. United Stales EnvironmC'nlal Protection 
AgC'ncy, o. 08-28 19, 2009 U.S. 1\pp. LEXfS 28384 * 15- 16, 17 (81

" Cir. , Dec. 28. 2009), tli e 
Eight Circuit broadly concluded that "EP/\ lacks statutory nuthorit y to assess administrative 
penalti.es for failu re to submi.t a timely permit applicat ion," and that ''a violation of the permit 
app lica tion regulations is not wi thin the purview o fl Section 309(g)(J )(a)),'' which suggests that 
even if Complainant carried its burden as to evidence of" the elemen ts of' liability for a vio lat ion 
of Section 308, Respondent could not b~ held liable Cor a penalty under Section 308. The court 
al so ruled more speci fi cal ly that the fai lure to apply for an NPOES permit under 40 C.F.R . 
§§ 122.21 (c)( I) and 122 .26( c) cannot be a violation of Sect ion 308 of the CW !\ because there is 
no ·'point source" and no di scharge at the time prior to construction acti ,·ity when those 
regulatory provisions require the permit application to be submitted. 2009 U.S. App. LEXJS 
28384 * 13- 14. In contrast, Cor MS4s, the operator of' an existing MS4 wh ich is already 
discharging, is required under the regulations and genera l permi ts to apply for coverage under an 
NPDES permit. See, 40 C.F.R. § 122.33 (operator of a regulated MS4 must seek coverage under 
an NPDES permit) ; 40 C.F. R. § 122 .. 26(e)(9) ("Fer any discharge from a regulated small MS4, 
the perm it appl ication made under § 122.33 must be submilled to the Director by: (i) March 10, 
2003 .. . . "). 

The next question is whether Complainanl has establi shed liability of Respondent under. 
Section 402 of the CWA fo r fai lure to apply for an NPDES permit for its storm water di scharges. 
The Complaint only refe rs to Paragraph (p)(G) of Section 402, authorizing EP/\ to issue 
regulat ions and regulatory program for ce rtain stormwntcr di scharges. Complaint,!,! 13, 14. 
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There is no cause of act ion under Section 402(p) for fi1ilure to apply [or an ' PDES permit. 
Environmenrol Pr01ectionlnjormation Center v. JJac[fic Lumber Co. , 469 F. Supp. 2d 803, 826-
827 (N.D. Cal. 2007). The Complaint docs not ref~ r to any paragraph of Sect ion 402 'v\ hich sets 
fo rth a cause of action for noncom pi iance with a permit. Complainant 's Motion docs not even 
refer to Secti on 402. Instead, it mere ly emphasizes l{esponden t'~ adm ission in its Answer that it 
fa iled to submi t an NOI to obtain coverage unckr the NPDES Permi t by the february 18, 2008 
de<1dline set forth in the Administrati ve Comp liance Order. Motion , j, j7, 24 . It is observed that 
the Genera l Permi t, Paragraph 2. 1.1 slates, " I r the permittee is automaticctll y designated under 40 
CFR § 122.32(a)( I) or designated by the permitting authority in th is permit, then the permittee is 
required to submi t an NOl ... by February), 2007." Hc)\,vever, Complainant has not asserted in 
its Motion any vio lat ion of Section 402 based on this permit provision. The mere admission of 
noncom pl iance with an Administrative Compliance Order or failure to submit an NO! does not 
establish a violation of Section 402 of the CW !\. 

Accordingly, because Compla inant has not met its burden to establi sh critical clements of 
liability for a violat ion of Section J08 or 402 or the CWA, the Motion for Accelerated Decision 
with respect to li abi lity·is denied. 

IV. Motion for Sta y and Renucs t for Extension of Tim e to f il e Rebu ttal Prchcarin g 
_Exch a n g~ 

I r the r-c ri1cdies of default or accderatcd dcci~ion are not granted, Complainant requests 
that it be gran ted an e.x tens.ion of time ro file its rebuttal prehcaring exchange. For good cause, 
the request is granted. 

On December 28, 2009, Lhe parties ~ubmiUed a Joint Informative Mot ion, reporting that 
the part ies "made substantial progress in reaching an agrcenient in principle," including a 
proposed Supplemental Environ111cntal Project. The part ies therefore request a 45 day period to 
a llow them to lile a statlls report on prog.re~s in sctlkmcnt . 

Good cause exists for the granting or a stay in that it is in the interest ol' the parties and 
j udicial economy Cor the parties to settl e this matter on mu tually agreeable terms rather than 
litigate the matter to conclusion. Jn th ::~ t a hearing in thi s case has not been scheduled, no 
prejudice will resu lt from a brie f delay. However, Complainant will be requ ired to fi le status 
reports on the status oC sett lement du ring the 45 clay period, and if a Consent /\greement and 
Consent Order is not filed by the end of the period, this case vvill proceed to a hearing. 
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ORDER 

t. Complainant 's Renewed Motion for Remedies is DE~JED. 

2. Complainant's Motion for i\ccc tcrated Decision with respect to liabil ity is Dl~ l'i lED . 

J. Coinpla inant's Motion for Stay is GRA~TED. This proceeding is hereby stayed unt il 
March 8, 201(}. The parties shalt attempt in good faith to settle th is matrer. The Complainant 
sha ll file a status report 011 the progress or settlement or th is matter during the weeks of 
February 2 and Fcbruarv 22, 20.1 0. 

4. Compla inant 's request for an extension of ti me to fil e its rebuttal prchearii1g exchange is 
G RANT ED. ln the event the parties are unable to fi le a Consent Agreement and Consent Order 
in thi s matter beforehand, Complai nant sh~ l t fi le any rebutta l prehca ri ng exchange on or before 
M ar ch 8, 2010. 

Dated: January I J, 20 I 0 
Washington, D.C. 

tO 

>:-·/Q . ~ ___ ux~~----
Susan L. Biro 
Chiel'i\dmini strative Law Judge 
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